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2016 12 31 T T ’ ’
13 78,409,920 10,103,902 477.41 61,519
2017 12 31 T T ’ ’
1 58,923,334 7,592,861 394.28 50,807
2018 12 31 T T ’ ’
1 89,641,806 11,551,243 430.39 55,460
2019 12 31 Y T ’ ’
16 89,007,125 11,469,458 419.48 54,054
2020 12 31 o T ’ ’
1 100,609,242 12,964,507 485.07 62,506
2021 12 31 T T ’ ’
2021 102,863,645 13,255,009 491.40 63,322
102,375,351 13,192,088 493.59 63,604
99,975,371 12,882,826 482.02 62,113
107,116,681 13,803,056 516.45 66,550
103,526,980 13,340,487 499.14 64,319
10 102,699,994 13,233,921 495.15 63,805
11 97,839,861 12,607,644 471.72 60,786
12 100,609,242 12,964,507 485.07 62,506
2022 103,090,821 13,284,283 497.04 64,049
100,226,901 12,915,238 483.23 62,269
95,042,205 12,247,139 458.23 59,048
90,158,124 11,617,776 442 .30 56,995
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2021 2020
CCMF
2021 67,780,861
2020 69,963,634 7 100,307,212 12,925,587 88,515,338 11,406,086
2 397,915 51,275 579,952 74,733
100,705,127 12,976,863 89,095,290 11,480,819
13,125 1,691 15,150 1,952
4 82,760 10,664 73,015 9,409
95,885 12,356 88,165 11,361
100,609,242 12,964,507 89,007,125 11,469,458
5 207,410 212,182
10 485.07 62,506 419.48 54,054
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3,664,332 472,186 3,404,816 438,745
(246,679) (31,787) (239,735) (30,892)
123 16 46 6
(250,548) (32,286) (213,963) (27,571)
3,167,228 408,129 2,951,164 380,287
(1,015,128) (130,809) (813,353) (104,809)
(25) ®3) (25) (©))
(51,586) (6,647) (51,387) (6,622)
(12,000) (1,546) (12,000) (1,546)
(13,058) (1,683) (13,362) (1,722)

4 1 290 37
(1,091,793) (140,688) (889,837) (114,664)
2,075,435 267,441 2,061,327 265,623
8,823,775 1,137,032 6,941,230 894,447
3,049,847 393,003 (11,043,210) (1,423,028)
(70,219) (9,048) 2,077 268
11,803,403 1,520,987 (4,099,903) (528,314)
(63) ®) 57 7

(63) ©) 57 7
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11,803,403 1,520,987 (4,099,903) (528,314)
13,878,775 1,788,419 (2,038,519) (262,684)

5 2,695,392 347,328
5 (2,276,658) (293,370) (1,291,554) (166,430)
(2,276,658) (293,370) 1,403,838 180,899
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15 2

(2,025) (261) (16,400) (2,113)
9,745 1,256 (5,508) (710)

2,004,621 269,913 1,896,329 244,361
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2021 :112,033,802
2020 :95,160,982 ) 7 96,355,162 12,416,326 76,432,495 9,849,001
2 3,862,040 497,662 12,089,984 1,557,915
113,647 14,645 18,343 2,364
100,330,849 12,928,633 88,540,822 11,409,370
23,637 3,046 25,484 3,284
23,637 3,046 25,484 3,284
100,307,212 12,925,587 88,515,338 11,406,086
5 501,500 517,650
11 200.01 25,773 170.99 22,034
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3,664,332 472,186 3,404,816 438,745
6 (246,679) (31,787) (239,735) (30,892)
123 16 46 6
3,417,776 440,415 3,165,127 407,858
4 151,382 19,507 121,520 15,659
26,186 3,374 23,392 3,014
31,900 4,111 30,150 3,885
4 3,500 451 2,160 278
8 1
4 20,000 2,577 20,500 2,642
17,580 2,265 16,233 2,092
250,548 32,286 213,963 27,571
3,167,228 408,129 2,951,164 380,287
8,823,775 1,137,032 6,941,230 894,447

)
3,049,847 393,003 (11,043,210) (1,423,028)
(70,219) (9,048) 2,077 268
11,803,403 1,520,987 (4,099,903) (528,314)
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3,167,228 408,129 2,951,164 380,287
8,823,775 1,137,032 6,941,230 894,447
3,049,847 393,003 (11,043,210) (1,423,028)
(70,219) (9,048) 2,077 268
14,970,631 1,929,116 (1,148,739) (148,027)
2,607,864 336,049
(3,178,757) (409,615) (2,293,406) (295,528)
(3,178,757) (409,615) 314,458 40,521
11,791,874 1,519,501 (834,281) (107,505)
88,515,338 11,406,086 89,349,619 11,513,592
100,307,212 12,925,587 88,515,338 11,406,086
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2021 12 31
2021 2020

14,970,631 1,929,116 (1,148,739) (148,027)
(24,846,642) (3.201,738) (10,628,707) (1,369,615)
16,797,597 2,164,538 19,613,487 2,527,394
(8.823,775) (1,137,032) (6,941,230) (894,447)
(3,049,847) (393,003) 11,043,210 1,423,028
2,009,032 258,884

(95,304) (12,281) 1 0
(1,847) (238) (23,708) (3,055)
(5.,049,187) (650, 638) 13,923,346 1,794,162
2,607,864 336,049
(3,178,757) (409,615) (5,415,866) (697,888)
(3.,178,757) (409,615) (2,808,002) (361,839)
(8.,227,944) (1,060,253) 11,115,344 1,432,323
12,089,984 1,557,915 974,640 125,592
3,862,040 497,662 12,089,984 1,557,915
3,575,099 460,687 3,404,816 438,745
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2021 12 31
1.
2011 11 24
2011 12 15
2.
US GAAP
2018 8 FASB
ASU 2018-13
820
ASU 2018-13
ASU
ASU 2019 12
16 2021 12 31
2016 6 FASB ASU2016-13 326
ASU2016-13 2020 12 16
2021 12 16

ASU
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FASB ASC 825

US GAAP

FASB

2021 12 31
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2020 12 31
2021 12 31 2020 12
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3.
4.
20,000
2021 12 31 20,000 2020 20,500
HSBC 2011 12 15
100 0.150
150 0.125
250 0.100
6,500
2021 12 31 151,382 2020 121,520
2021 12 31 12,362 2020 10,884
2021 12 31 3,500 2020 2,160
2021 12 31 200 2020 100
5.
2021 12 31 2020 12 31 50,000 1.00

100 0.001 49,900,000
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2011 12 14
2021 2020

100 100
517,650 515,050
17,200
(16,150) (14,600)
(16,150) 2,600
501,500 517,650

2021 2020 2,607,864 17,200

3,178,757 2020 2,293,406

16,150 2020 14,600

2021 2020
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2,607,864
2,607,864
2021 2020
3,122,460
3,178,757 2,293,406
3,178,757 5,415,866
6.
2021
12 31 246,679 2020 239,735
2011 12 15 50
ASC 740
2011 2021
2021 12 31
2021 12 31
2020
7.

ASC 820
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2021 12 31
96,355,162 96,355,162 — —
96,355,162 96,355,162 — —
2020 12 31
76,432,495 76,432,495 — —
76,432,495 76,432,495 — —
2013 2021 12 31 2020
12 31
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2021 12
31 2020 12 31
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2021 12 31

2021 12 31

2021 12 31

2020

2020 12 31
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12.

2021 12 31
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2021 2020
170.99 173.48
6.25 5.74
22.77 (8.23)
29.02 (2.49)
200.01 170.99
16.97% (1.43%)
0.49% 0.56%
0.49% 0.56%
3.13% 3.64%

2022 3 31
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2021 12 31

6,309,306 6.29

110,581 0.11
3,005,767 3.00
5,634,568 5.62
6,841,503 6.82

146,190 0.15

580,786 0.58
3,016,780 3.01
1,777,944 1.77
20,034,057 19.97
3,155,462 3.15
3,205,655 3.20
1,963,037 1.96
7,755,631 7.73

518,241 0.52

299,731 0.30

515,310 0.51
2,619,309 2.61

475,555 0.47
3,513,887 3.50
2,565,462 2.56
1,952,731 1.95
4,511,666 4.50
8,124,487 8.10
1,301,150 1.30
1,773,520 1.77
4,646,846 4.63
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China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H 6,587,868 10,558,000 6,309,306 6.29
China Communications Construction Co Ltd H 7,844,892 10,412,000 5,634,568 5.62
China Glass Holdings Ltd 819,870 8,896,000 1,973,581 1.97
China Lesso Group Holdings Ltd 1,771,569 2,035,000 2,891,466 2.88
West China Cement Ltd (HKSE) 1,936,688 11,250,000 1,976,456 1.97
Zhejiang Glass Co Ltd H 439,460 1,379,000

Bank of China Ltd H 8,359,229 16,200,000 5,879,162 5.86
Bank of Communications Co Ltd H 4,847,623 5,863,000 3,526,198 3.52
China Construction Bank Corp H 7,955,996 10,058,393 6,965,244 6.94
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H 6,833,458 9,651,280 3,663,453 3.65
CITIC Securities Co Ltd H 6,659,428 2,994,000 7,755,631 7.73
Hang Lung Properties Ltd 2,300,910 810,000 1,666,109 1.66
Hon Kwok Land Investment Co Ltd 688,042 2,254,000 855,578 0.85
Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H 7,991,479 9,105,351 4,366,991 4.35
Sino-Ocean Group Holdings Ltd 1,170,094 5,295,000 1,235,809 1.23
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2020 12 31

6,182,551 6.99
75,834 0.09
3,181,303 3.59
2,923,550 3.30
4,216,360 4.76
152,199 0.17
20,112,789 22.72
3,100,413 3.50
1,351,644 1.53
5,376,435 6.07
5,321,130 6.01
354,781 0.40
330,689 0.37
318,457 0.36
883,036 1.00
1,847,382 2.09
471,766 0.53
1,376,123 1.56
1,644,679 1.86
2,682,492 3.03
8,042,859 9.09
1,683,383 1.90
684,072 0.77
1,163,421 1.32
83,097 0.09
2,872,050 3.25

95,160,982 76,432,495 86.35
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95,160,982 76,432,495 86.35
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China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H 6,587,868 10,558,000 6,182,551 6.99
Bank of China Ltd H 7,835,493 14,700,000 5,024,507 5.68
China Construction Bank Corp H 6,842,921 8,508,393 6,507,774 7.35
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H 6,833,458 9,651,280 5,464,868 6.17
CITIC Securities Co Ltd H 5,383,841 2,444,000 5,321,130 6.01

Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H 7,654,767 8,538,151 5,175,972 5.85
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2021

MNotes 2021 2020
Us$ Uss
Assets
Investments in CCMF Limited (“Master Fund™), at fair valoe
(Cost 2021: US$67,780,861; 2020: US$H69 963.634) T 100,307,212 88,515,338
Cash and cash equivalents 2 397915 579952
Total assets 100,705,127 80,003 200
Liabilities
Acerued expenses and other liahlities 13,123 15,130
Management fiee payable 4 82,760 73,013
Total liabilities 95,885 228,165
Net assets 100,609 242 80007125
Number of wmits outstanding 5 207 410 212182
Net asset value per unit 10 48507 41942

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these financial statements.

4
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31, 2021
Note 2021
Uss
Net imvestment income allocated from the Master Fund
Dividend income 3664332
Withholding tax expense ( 246.679)
Other meome 123
Other expenses { 230,548)
3167228
Trust's operating expenses
Management fea 4 ( 1.015128)
Sub-custodian fee ( 25)
Legal and professional fees ( 51,586)
Registrar's and administration fees 4 { 12,000)
Other expenses ( 13,058)
Other ncome 4
( 1.091,793)
Net investment income 2,075,435

Net realised and unrealised gains/({losses) on investments
and foreign exchange differences allocated from the Master Fund

Net realised gains on sale of investments BRIZTTS
Net change in unrealised gains/(losses) on investments
during the year 3,049 847
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains { 70,219
11,803 403
Trust’s realised and unrealized (losses)/gains on investments
and exchange differences
Foreign exchange (losses)/zains ( 63)
( 63)
Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) from
investments and foreign currency transactions 11,803 340
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets resnlting from operations 13,878,773

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an mtegral part of these fimancial statements.
3
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2020
Uss

3.404.2816

( 239735
46

( 213963)

2.051,164

(  813353)
( 25)
(  51387)
(  12.000)
(13362
200

(889837

2,061,327

6,941,230

( 11,043,210)
2,077
( 4,099.903)

57

57

( 4,099,846)

( 2032319



CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended December 31, 2021

Changes in net assets resulting from operations

Net mvestment mcome allocated from the Master Fund

Trust’s operating expenses

Trust’s net exchange (losses)/zains

Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on investments
and foreign exchange differences allocated from the
Master Fund

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets resulting
from operations

Change in net assets resulting from capital
share transactions

Unit subscriptions

Unit redemptions

Net (decrease)fincrease in net assets resnlting
from capital transactions

Met increase/{decrease) In net assets
Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year
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Note 2021 2020
Ust Uss

3,167,228 2,951,164

( 1,091,793) ( 889.837)

( 63) 57
11,803,403 ( 4.099.903)
13,878,775 ( 2,038,519)

5 - 2,695,302
5 ( 2.276,658) ( 1.291,554)
( 2.276,658) 1.403.838
11,602,117 ( 634.681)
89,007,125 80,641,806
100,609,242 20,007,125

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2021

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/{decrease) in net assets resulting from operations
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Met (Increase)/decrease in mvestment in the Master Fund
Decrease in redemptions receivable
Decrease in interest receivable
Decrease in accroed expenses and other liabilities
Increase/{decrease) in management fee payable

Net cash flows generated from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issnance of units

Payment for redemption of units
et cash flows used in financing activities

Lh LA

Net (decrease)/imcrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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The accompanying notes and Appendix are an imtegral part of these financial statements.
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2021 2020
Ust Uss
13,878,775 ( 2.038,519)
( 11.791,874) 834281
- 3,122,460

- 15

( 2,025) (16400
9 745 {  5508)
2,004,621 1,896,320

- 2,695,392

( 2.276.658) ( 4.028213)
( 2.276.658) ( 1332.821)
(182,037 563,508
579,952 16.444
397,915 579,952
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

1. Organisation

Cape China Fund ({the *Trust”) was registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Act and
established under the laws of the Cayman Islands and constituted by a Trust Deed (the “Trust Dead™)
dated October 5, 2004 made between the Bank of Bermmda (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee™) as
Trustee and Cape Asset Management Limited as Manager. The Trust only issues one class of wmits.

The Trust commenced operations on October 29, 2004, Its investment objective is to maximise capital
gams principally by identifying and acquirmg egquity securifies of companies that have growth
potential and which operate in, carmry on a business in or denve revenue from or are located m the
Greater China Region including Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau of People’s Eepublic of
China and Tarwan.

Unless ternunated earlier, the Trust will be terminated one hundred years after the date of the Trost
Deed. The Trust changed its name from Seven China Equity Fund to Cape China Fund on January 23,
2006. Seven Asset Management (Asia) Limited retired as the Manager, and on June 1, 2009 Cape
Asset Management [imited was appointed as the Manager.

The Trust was established as a stand-alone fimd and converted into a “feeder” fund in a “master feeder”
find structure om December 15, 2011. The master fund is CCMF Limited (the “Master Fund™), a

Cayman [slands exempted company. The Trust mvests all or substantially all of its assetsin the Master

Fund which shares the same mvestment objective and strategy as the Trust. The restructuring took

effect by transferming all of the Trust’s underlying investments and cash to the Master Fund in

exchange for the participating shares of the Master Fund.

Effective from October 6, 2017, Bank of Bermmuda (Cayman) Limited (the “Retiring Tmstee™) was
refired and HSBC Tmstee (Cayman) Limited was appointed as the trustee (the “Trustee™) of the Trust
on the same date.

The Master Fund is managed by Cape Asset Management Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Eong with linvited liabality. The Master Fund will accept subscriptions from the Trost as well as other
parallel feeder funds or vehicles established by the Manager from time to time. At 31 Diecember 2021,
the Trust’s investment m the Master Fund represents 100% (2020: 100%) of the net assets of the
Master Fund.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Trust’s financial statements have been prepared mn accordance with accommting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“US. GAAP™) and are stated in United States
Dollars (“US$™), which 1z also the fimctional currency. Certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation. The following is a summary of the
sigmificant accounting and reporting policies used in prepanng the financial statements:
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Accounting and Regulatory Development

In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASE™) issued the Accoumting
Standards Update ("ASU") 2018-13, Far Value Measurements (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework -
Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Far Value Measurement, to streambine disclosure
requirements while continning to provide useful information for financial statement users. For non-
public entities, ASTT 2018-13 eliminates disclosures for policy of iming of transfers, valuation process
for Lewvel 3 fair value measurements and the changes in unrealized gams and losses included in for
Level 3 investments held at the end of the reporting perniod The ASU also amends disclosure
reguirements for the Level 3 roll forward. All other changes implemented by the ASU are applicable
to public companies only. The gmdance is effective for financial statements with fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019. The Trust has adopted this change in the Trust’s financial
statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2021 and determined that there
15 no material mpact to the financial statements as there are no Level 3 mvestments held at the end of
the reporting period.

In June 2016, the FASE 1zsued ASU 2016-13 Financial Instroments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) that
reguire a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be
presented at the net ameunt expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation
account that 1z deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial assets to present the net carrying
value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. The income statement reflects the
measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial assets, as well as the expected increases
or decreases of expected credit losses that have taken place during the permod. ASU 2016-13 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Directors assessed that this has
no mmpact to the Trust’s financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts doe from banks on demand. Cash and cash equivalents
are stated at cost, which approximates their market value. Balances which are denominated m foreign
currencies are translated into US$ at the applicable rates of exchange at the end of the reporting period.
As at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, all cash and cash equivalents are held with
custodian, Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. Ne restricted cash was held by
Fund as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Investment Company

The Trust meets the definition of an investment company within Accounting Standard Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 946, “Financial Services — Investment Compeanies ”, 1ssued by FASB, and applies the
accounting and reporting guidance in this Topic to its financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Trust’s assets and habilities which qualify as financial instroments under FASB
ASC 823, “Financial Instruments ”, approximates the camying amounts presented in the finaneial
statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment Valuation

The Trust's investment in the Master Fund is valued at fair value, which is the Trust’s proporticnate
mterest in the net assets of the respective share class i the Master Fund. The performance of the Trust
15 directly affected by the performance of the Master Fund. The Trust records any change in value in
the statement of operations by recording its proportionate share of the Master Fund's income, expenses,
realised and wnrealised gainlosses. In addition, the Trust accrues its own income and expenses. The
Trust mvests in the Master Fund and the Trust’s investment policy is same as the investment policy
of the Master Fund. Since the operating activities of the Trust are conducted through its investment m
the Master Fund, the financial statements of the Master Fund are an mtegral part of these financial
statements and should be read m conjumction with those of the Trust. The Master Fund’s financial
statements are therefore attached.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange
prevailimg at the date of the statement of assets and liabilities. Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange prevailng at the time of the transaction. Exchange gains or losses,
both realised and unrealised, are included in the statement of operations.

The Trust does not 1solate that portion of gains and losses on mvestments which 1s due to changes in
foreign exchange rates from that which is due to changes in market prices of the mwvestments. Such
fluctuations are included with the net realised and unrealised gains and losses from investments.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformaty with US. GAAP may require management to
make estimates and assunaptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and lisbilifies, meluding
the fair value of mvestments as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
mecome and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results conld differ from those estimates.

3 Related Party Transactions

The Trust is managed by the Manager, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with linnited liability.
The Manager is responsible, subject to the policies, controls and approval of the Trustee, for the
mvestment of the Trust’s assets in accordance with the mvestment objective set out in the Explanatory
Memorandum. Details of the fees, to which the Manager is entifled, are provided in Note 4 to these
financial statements.

Shareholdings in the Trust
As at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, a director of the Manager held 25,000 shares of
the Trust.

10
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

4. Fees

Management fee

The Manager iz entitled to receive a management fee at an annual rate of 1% on the net asset value of
the Trust at each month end, payable in amears. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the
management fee was US$1,015,128 (2020: US$813.353). As at December 31, 2021, a management
fee of US$82 760 (2020: US$73,013) was payable to the Manager.

Performance fee

The Manager 1s also enfitled to receive an anmal performance fee of 10%: of any Increase m net asset
value above an mitial 4% increase in each financial year on a cummlative basis in the net asset value
of umits as at the last dealing day of the preceding financial year or a base net asset value of US$100
per umit for the first financial year. For the year ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
there was no performance fee expense. As at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there was

no performance fee payable to the Manager.

Registrar’s and administration fees
The Trustee is entitled to receive a fixed fee of US$12.000 per annum as Trustee’s fee, Registrar's
fees and adnuinistration fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Registrar's and administration fee was US$12 000 (2020:
US$12,000). Az at December 31, 2021, Registrar's and admimstration fees of US$1,000 (2020:
US$1,000) was payable to the Trustee.

5. Capital Transactions

The Trust has an unlimited umit capital amount with no par value. All outstanding units share the same
charactenstics.

Units in the Trst are nommally issued on or with effect from any dealing day (monthly) in respect of
applications received before the subscription dealing deadline in relation to the relevant dealing day.
The issue price is the amount equal to the Net Asset Value per unit as at the relevant valuation point
plus an amount, if any, as the Manager may determine to add in respect of fiscal and purchase
charges and such amownt will be rounded up to the nearest cent The benefit of such rounding is
retamed as part of the Trust’s assets.

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager is obliged to accept requests for the redemption of units by
arranging for their cancellation on any dealing day (monthly) m respect of requests recerved before
the redemption dealing deadline which is at least 14 days prior to the relevant dealing day. Bedemption
price of a Unit will be the amount equal to the Net Asset Value per unit of the Trust caleulated on that
dealing day less any amount of performance fee payable to the Manager and any applicable expense
as the Manager may determine to deduct. No partial redemption which would result in the unitholder
retaining fewer than 100 units or such lesser number as the Manager may in its discretion agree. In
addition, the Manager may limit the mumber of umits to be redeemed on any redemaption date to 10%
of total mumber of umnits in issue.

11
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

5. Capital Transactions (continued)

Units cutstanding at beginning of year
Umits 15sued
Units redesmed
Net change

Units cutstanding at end of year
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2021 2020
212,182 208282
- 7.200
4772) ¢ 3.300)
4772) 3.000
207,410 212,182

During 2021, no units (2020: 7,200 units) were issued for US$Nil (2020: US$2,695,392) and 4,772
wmits (2020: 3,300 units) were redeemed for US$2,276.658 (2020: US$1,291,554).

Units are issued and redeemed in accordance with the Trust Deed.

Subscriptions receivable, beginning of the year
Subscriptions during the year

Proceeds from issuance of units

Fedemptions payable, beginning of the year
Redemptions during the year

Payment for redemption of units

12

88/208

2021 2020
Us$ Uss

- 2,693,392

- 2,693,392

- 2736639
2,276,658 1291534

2,276,638 4,028,213
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

6. Taxation

Under the cumrent laws of the Cayman Islands. there 15 no income, withholding, capital gams,
corporation, inheritance, o estate taxes of any kind.

The Trust has recerved an undertaking from the Governor-in-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that for
the period of fifty years from October 5, 2004 (date of establishment), no law which 1s hereafter
enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Tmst.

The Trust recognizes and measures its unrecognized tax positions in accordance with ASC 740,
Income Taxes. These principles preseribe the minimmm recognition threshold a tax position mmst meet
m comnection with accounting for uncertainties in ncome tax positions taken or expected. The
applications of these principles did not impact the Trust’s financial statements.

The Trust has analyzed the positions for all open tax years (2004 to 2021), and the positions to be
taken for the tax year ended December 31, 2021 i 1ts major jurisdictions, and have determuned
whether or not there are uncertain tax positicns that require fmancial statement recogmition. Based on
1ts analysis, the Directors has determined that this policy did not have a matenial impact on the Trust’s
financial statements. However, the Directors” conclusions regarding this policy may be subject to
review and adyustment at a later date based on factors mcluding, but not limited to, on-going analyses
of and changes to tax laws, regulations and mterpretations thereof The Trust recogmizes mterest
accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties mn other expenses, if
assessed. No interest expense or penalties have been assessed for the year ended December 31, 2021
{2020z Mal).

T Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

As at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the financial assets of the Trust consist of 1ts
investment in the Master Fund and as such the Manager determined that fair valoe of the financial
assets mvolved inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset either directly (as
priced) or ndirectly (denved from prices) 1e. Level 2.

For the year ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there were no transfers between Level
lor Level 2 and Level 3.

8 Distributions
The Tmustee may make distributions, at the discretion of the Manager, in respect of each financial year
to each unitholder on the distnbution date falling m the subsequent financial year of up to all of the
appreciation in the net asset value of the units held by the unitholders in the current financial year. No
distributions were made for the current or prior year.

9, Indemnifications

The Trust enters into confracts that contain a varety of indemmifications. The Tmst’s maximum
exposure under these arrangements is unknown. However, the Trust has not had prior claims or losses
pursuant to these contracts and expects the nsk of loss to be remote.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

10. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks

The Trust's investment in Master Fund 15 exposed to various types of isk both on and off the statement
of financial condition which are associated with the financial mstruments and markets in which the
Master Fund mwvests. Details of those nisks are contained in the Master Fund’s financial statements as
attached.

11.  Financial Highlights

The following repressents the per umit information, ratio to average net assets and other information
for the year ended December 31, 2021:

2021 2020
Uss Uss
Per unit operating performance
Met asset value, beginning of year 41048 43039
Income/(loss) from investment operations:
Net investment expenses { 5249 ( 423
Net zain/(loss) on mvesiments T0.83 ( 6.66)
Total income/(loss) from investment operations 63.50 { 1091)
Met asset value, end of year 48507 41943
Total investment retumn prior to performance fee 15.64% { 2.53%)
Performance fee 0.00% 0.00%
Total investment refumn after performance fee 15.64% ( 2.53%)
Fatio to average net assets:
Expenses other than performance fee 1.08% 1.09%
Performance fees 0.00% 0.00%
Total expenses 1.08% 1.09%
Net investment expenses { 1.08%) ( 1.08%%)

An imdividual investor per unit operating performance, total retum and raties to average net assets
may vary from these amounts and ratios based on the timing of capital transactions.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31. 2021
12. Subsequent Events
The Manager has evaluated the effect of all subsequent events oceurming throngh March 31, 2022, the

date the financial statements were available to be issned, and has determined that there were no
subsequent events requiring adjustment to or disclosure i the financial statements.
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Audited Financial Statements

CCMF LIMITED ) _
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Ernst & Young Lid. Tek &1 345 940 Bdda
£2 Farum Lane Fax: +1 345 049 BE20
Camana Bay EyLCom

PO, Box 510

Building a betier Grand Cayman KY1-1106
working world CAYMAN [SLANDS
Report of Independent Auditors
The Board of Directors
CCMF Limited
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of CCMF Limited (the “Fund™), which comprize the
statements of assets and labilities, including the condensed schedule of investments, as of
December 31. 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the related statements of operations, changes in
net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as
the “financial statements™).

In cur opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Fund at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with avditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Anditor’s Besponsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of cur report. We are
required to be independent of the Fund and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the andit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management 13 responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to frand
Of erTor.

In preparing the financial statements, management 15 required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate. that raise substantial doubt about the Fund’s

ability to continue as a going concetn for one year after the date that the financial statements are
available to be 1ssued.

A member Hirm of Creal & Young Globed Limited
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Anditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to cbtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. FEeasonable assurance 15 a high level of assurance but 15 not absclute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The nisk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from frand is higher than for one resulting from error, as frand may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations. or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelithood that, individually or in
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:
* Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the andit.

*  Identify and assess the risks of material misstaternent of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design andit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
15 expressed.

* Evaluate the appropriatemess of accounting policies used and the reasomableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

*  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the

aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

& mamber linm ol Crmd & Fourg Gobal Limisd

94/208



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

EY

Building a betier
working worid

We are required to commmnicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant andit findings. and certain internal

control-related matters that we identified duning the andit.
SErmet ¥ Miﬂ.

March 31, 2022

& member fim el Ot & Fousg Gobal Limilsd
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2021

Notes 2021 2020
Usk Uss
Assets
Investments m secunties, at fair value
(Cost 2021: US$112,033,802; 2020: USS03,160,982) 7 96,353,162 76,432,493
Cash and cash equivalents 2 3,862,040 12,089,984
Other assets 113,647 18,343
Total assets 100,330,849 88,340,222
Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liahlities 23,637 25484
Total liabilities 23,637 25484
Net assets 100,307 212 88,515,338
Number of participating shares outstanding 5 501,500 517,650
Net asset value per participating share 11 20001 170.99

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
4
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31, 2021

Investment income and expenses
Income:

Dividend income

Withholding tax expense

Other income
Total investment income

Expenses:
Registrar's and admimistration fees
Sub-custodian fes
Legal and professional fees
Tranzaction fee
Bank charges
Directors' fee
Other expenses
Total expenses

MNet investment income

EDINETOOOO

00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)

Notes 2021
Uss

3.664.332
] {246,679
123

347776

4 151,382
26,186

31.900
4 3,500

4 20,000
17.580
250,548

3167228

Realised and change in unrealised gains/(losses) on

investments and foreign currency transactions
et realised gains on sale of investments

8,823,775

Wet change in unrealised gains/(losses) on investments

during the year
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains

3,049,847
(70219

Net realised and change in unrealised gains/(losses) from

investments and foreign currency fransactions

Net increase/{decrease) in net assets resulting from operations

11,803 403

14,970,631

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2020
Uss

3.404.2816
({ 239.735)
46

3,163,127

121,520
23330
30,150

2,160

2
20,500
16,233
213,963

29051164

6,941,230

(11,043.210)
2,077

( 4,000.903)

( 1,148,739)
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended December 31, 2021

Note 2021 2020
Uss Uss
Change in net assets resulting from operations
Net mvestment mcome 3,167.228 2951164
Net realizsed gains on sale of investments 8,823,775 6,941,230
et change in unrealised gains(losses) on investments
durng the year 3,040,847 { 11,043 210)
Foreign exchange (losses)/gams ( 70,219) 2,077
Net change in net assets resulting from operations 14,970,631 { 1.148739)
Change in net assets resulting from capital share transactions
Participating share subscriptions 5 - 2,607,864
Participating share redemptions 5 ( 3178757 {2293 406)
Net change in net assets resulting from capital share
transactions ( 3,178,757 314,458
Net change in net assets 11,791,874 ( 234 281)
Net assets at beginning of year 88,515,338 89340 619
Net assets at end of year 100,307 212 88,513,338

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Net change in net assets resulting from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net change in net assets
resulting from operations to net cash generated
from operating activities:
Purchasas of investments
Proceeds from sales of investments
Net realised gains on sale of investments
Net change i unrealised (gams)/losses on
investments during the year
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in amounts due from broker
{Increase)/decrease in other assets
Decrease in accrued expenses
and other hahilities
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issnance of participating shares

Payment for redemption of participating shares
Net cash flows used in financing activities

et (decrease)/mcrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash information:
Cash received dunng the year from dividend

EDINETOOOO
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Note 2021 2020
Uss Uss

14970631  ( 1,148.739)

{ 24.846.642) ( 10,628 707)
16,797,597 19.613 487
{ B8.823.775) ( 6,941.230)

( 3,049.847) 11.043.210
. 2,000,032

( 95304) 1
( 1,847)  (  23.708)
( 5,049,187) 13.923 346
2,607,264

h LA

{ 3,1787757) { 3413.866)
{ 3,1787757) {  2,808,002)

{ 8.227.044) 11,115,344
12,080 084 074 640
3,862,040 12,089,984
3575009 3,404 816

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021

| Organisation

CCMF Limited (the "Fund") is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on November 24, 2011. The Fund commenced operations on December 15, 2011.
The Fund has no employees.

Cape China Fund, a Cayman Islands Unit Trust ("Feeder Fund"), invests all or substantially all of its
assets through the participating shares issued by the Fund Cape Asset Management Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with hmited liability (the "WManager™), acts as mvestment
manager of the Fund and the Feeder Fund.

The Fund's investment objective 1s to maxinuse capital gans by mvesting in the greater China region.
The Manager will seck to achieve the mvestment objective of the Fund principally by identifying and
acqlmmgeqmty securifies of companies that the Manager considers have growth potential and which
operate In, carry on a business in or derive revenue from or are located in the greater China region or
with business interests in the greater China rezion and will identify such other investments as may
otherwise mean the objective of the Fund can be attained.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Funds financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amenica ("U.S. GAAP") and are stated in United States
Dollars (“USS7), which is also the functional currency.

The following is a summary of the significant accounting and reporting policies used in prepaning the
financial statements:

Accounting and Regulatory Development

In August 2018, the Fmancial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued the Accounting
Standards Update ("ASTU™) 2012-13, Fair Value Measurements (Topic 320): Disclosure Framework
- Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement, to streamline disclosure
reguirements while contimung to provide useful information for financial statement users. For non-
public entities, ASU 2018-13 elimmates disclosures for pelicy of timing of transfers, valuation
process for Level 3 fair value measurements and the changes in unrealized gams and losses included
m for Level 3 investments held at the end of the reporting period. The ASU also amends disclosure
requirements for the Level 3 roll forward. All other changes implemented by the AST are applicable
to public compamies only. The guidance 15 effective for financial statements with fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019. The Fund has adopted this change in the Fund’s financial
statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2021 and determined that there
15 no material impact to the fimancial statements as there are no Level 3 mvestments held at the end

of the reporting period.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Accounting and Regulatory Development (continned)

In June 2016, the FASE 1ssued ASU 2016-13 Financial Instroments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) that
require a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be
presented at the net ameunt expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation
account that 15 deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial assets to present the net carrying
value at the amount expected to be collected om the financial asset. The income statement reflects the
measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial assets, as well as the expected increases
or decreases of expected credit losses that have taken place during the period. ASU 2016-13 is
effective for fiscal years begmming after December 15, 2020, and interim perieds within fiscal years
beginnimg after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permatted. The Directors assessed that this has
no mmpact to the Fund’s financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents melude amounts due from banks on demand. Cash equivalents are short-
term, highly liguid investments that are readily convertible to known ameounts of cash and which are
subject to insignificant changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commiiments rather than for mvestments a.udurﬂlerpmpuses Cash and cash equivalents are stated at
cost, which approximates their market value. Balances which are denomiated in foreipn cumrencies
are translated mio US$ at the applicable rates of exchange at the end of the reporting period. As at
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, all cash and cash equivalents are held with cash
custodian, Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited No restricted cash was held by
Fund as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Investment Company

The Fund meets the defimtion of an mvestment company within Accounting Standards Codification
("ASC"™) Topic 946, "Financial Services — Investment Companies”, 1ssued by FASE, and applies the
accounting and reporting guidance in this Topic to its financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Fund's assets and liabilities which qualify as financial instroments imder FASB

ASC 823, "Financial Instruments", approximates the camying amounts presented in the financial
statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment Valuation

The Fund's investment in listed securities are valued at their last raded prices on the valuation date
where the stock exchange in question closes on or before the valuation point on the relevant valuation
date, or, if such stock exchange closes after the valuation point on the relevant valuation date, by
reference to the last traded price as at close of business on the stock exchange immediately prior to
the relevant valuation date. If no such last traded price 1s available, the securties are valued at nudway
between the latest available market dealing offered price and the latest available market dealing bid
price on the principal stock exchange for such investments. Market values are determined by using
quoted market prices.

The mputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessanly an indication of the nsk
associated with mvesting in those securities.

Dividend Income
Dividend meome 15 recorded on the ex-dividend date.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities denominated m foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the date of the statement of assets and liabilities. Transactions i foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Exchange gams o1 losses,
both realised and unreahsed, are included in the statements of operations.

The Fund does not 1solate that portion of gams and losses on investments which is due to changes in
foreign exchange rates from that which is due to changes in market prices of the mvestments. Such
fluctnations are included with the net realised and unrealised gams and losses from imvestments.

Investment Gains and Losses
Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Fealised gains and losses resulting
from the sale of investments are caleulated on an average cost basis, and are reflected in the statement
of operations. Changes i unrealised appreciation or depreciation on mvestments is included in the
statement of operations.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements m conformity with U.5. GAAP may require management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported m the financial statements and
accompanymg notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3 Related Party Transactions
The Fund is managed by the Manager, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liabality.

The Manager is responsible, subject to the policies and supervision of the Directors of the Fund, for
the mvestment of the Fund's assets. The rermmeration of the Manager 1s bome by the Feeder Fund

14
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021

4. Fees

Directors’ fee

The Directors are entitled to receive a fee from the Fund. They may be paid the reasonable travel and
out-of-pocket expenses properly mcurred by them in attending and returming from meetings of the
Directors, any committee of the Directors, any general meeting or any other meeting held in
commection with the business of the Fund, which are not expected to exceed US$20,000 per anmm
per Director. For the year ended December 31, 2021, Directors fee were US$20,000 (2020
US$20,500).

Registrar's and administration fees

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the "Admimstrator”) has been appomted on December 153, 2011
to perform the administrative services. The Admimistrator is entitled to receive administration and
custodian fiees from the Fund calculated at the following annual rate of the net asset value of the Fund:

For the first US$100 million of the net asset value 0.150%:
For the next 1/S%1 50 mullion of the net asset value 0.125%
Above 175%230 million of the net asset value 0.100%%

The fees will acerue on each dealing day (monthly) and be paid monthly in arrears. It 1s subject to a
muininwm monthly fee of US$6,500.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the administration fee was US$151 382 (2020: US$121, 520).
As at December 31, 2021, an admimisiration fee of US$12,362 (2020: US$10,884) was payable to the

Transaction fee
The Admimstrator is entitled to receive transaction fees and charges on the basis of the number of
equities transactions, payable monthly in arrears.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, transaction fees were US$3,500 (2020: US82,160). As at
December 31, 2021, a transaction fee of TUS$200 (2020: US$100) was payable to the Administrator.

Management and Performance fees
The Fund's Manager does not charge any management and performance at the Fund level.

15
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021

5. Share Capital

The share capital of the Fund is US$50,000 divided into 100 management shares of US51.00 par
value each and 49,900,000 participating shares of USS$0.001 par value each as at both
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

The Directors shall determine the subscription price at the time of issue of the first issue of
participating shares. Thereafier, the Directors may 1ssue participating shares on amy subscription date
provided that such additional participating shares are 1ssued at a subscription price equal to not less
than the net asset value per participating share (such amount will be rounded up to the nearest cent
and the benefit of such roundng 1s retained as part of the Fund's assets) calculated on the relevant
subscription date or on any day as may be specified by the Directors. The subscription date is any
dealing day in respect of applications received before the subseription dealing deadline in relation to
the relevant dealing day.

A shareholder may generally require the redemption of all or any of such shareholder's participating
shares by serving a redemption notice on the Fund. The Fund shall redeem such participating shares
at the redemption price, being an amount equal to the net asset value per participating share
{such amount will be rounded down to the nearest cents) caleulated on the relevant redemption date
or on any day as may be specified by the Directors. The rademption date is any dealing day provided
that the redemption request mmst be received before the redemption dealing deadline in relation to the
relevant dealing day. The Directors may impose a gate the effect of which is to limit the redemptions
of participating shares of any class and/or senies as of any redemption date to such extent and in such
manner a3 they may, in their sole discretion, determmne. If the Directors determine to limit redemptions,
the Directors may determine the manner in which such gated redemption requests will be dealt with
on any subsequent redemption date.

The holder of management shares shall have the night to receive notice of, attend at and vote as a

member at any general meeting of the Fund, and the right in a winding up to repayment of capital but
shall confer no other night to participate m the profits or assets of the Fund.

The holder of participating shares shall generally not have the right to receive notice of, attend at or
vote as a member at any general meeting of the Fund, but may vote at a separate meeting of holders
of participating shares_ but shall have the right in 2 winding up to participate in the surphs assets of
the Fund.

All management shares were allotted and 1ssued to the Manager at par value as resolved by the
Directors on December 14, 2011.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

5. Share Capital (continued)

The participating shares are issued and redeemed m accordance with the Memorandum and Articles
of Association and as established by the Directers.

2021 2020

Management shares at beginning and end of year 100 100
Participating shares outstanding at beginning of year 517,630 515,050
Participating shares issued - 17200
Participating shares redeemed {  16150) ( 14.600)
Net change { 16150) 2,600
Participating shares cutstanding at end of year 501,500 517,650

During 2021, no units (2020: 17,200 units) of participating shares were issued for USSNil (2020:
US$2,607.864) and 16,150 units (2020: 14,600 units) of participating shares were redesmed for
US$3,178,757 (2020: US$2_293 406).

2021 2020

Us$ Us$
Subscnptions during the year - 2,607,264
Proceeds from issuance of paricipating shares - 2607264
Redemptions payable, beginning of the year - 3,122 460
Fedemptions during the year 3.178.757 2,293 406
Payment for redemption of participating shares 3,178,757 5,413,866
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021

b, Taxation

Under the cument laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, withholding, capital gains,
corporation, inheritance, or estate taxes of any kind.

Dividend revenue is subject to withhelding tax in certain jurisdictions and is the cnly item subject to
taxation. The withholding tax for the year ended December 31, 2021 waz USH246,679 (2020:
U5$239,733).

The Fund has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that for
the period of fifty years from December 15, 2011 (date of establishment), no law which is hereafter
enacted m the Cayman Islands imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Fund.

The Fund is not subject to any Hong Kong tax on income or capital gains. As a result, no tax liability
or expense has been recorded in the financial statements.

The Fund recognises and measures its wrecogmsed tax positions i accordance with ASC 740,
Income Taces. These prineiples preseribe the mimimum recognition threshold a tax position must meet
m connection with accounting for uncertamties in mcome tax positions taken or expected. The
applicatioms of these prmciples did not impact the Fund's fimancial statements.

The Fund has analysed the positions for all open tax years (2011 to 2021}, and the positions to be
taken for the tax year ended December 31, 2021 m 1ts major junsdictions, and have determmed
whﬂﬂmrurnutthﬂreareumertamtupﬂmmnsthxtmqmeﬁuﬂma]statmnmtmmmhmBasadm
its analysis, the Directors has determined that this policy did not have a material impact on the Fund's
financial statements. However, the Directors’ conclusions regarding this policy may be subject to
review and adjustment atalxterdatebasedmﬁmmmmhﬂng,butmt]mtedtu on-going analyses
of and changes to tax laws, regulations and mterpretations thereof. The Fund recogmises interest
accrued related to unrecogmsed tax benefits in interest expense and penalties m other expenses, if
aszessed. No interest expense or penalties have been assessed for the year ended December 31, 2021
{2020z Mal).

T Assets Measured at Fair Valuoe on a Recurring Basis

Tnwestments measured and reported at fair valoe are classified and disclosed m one of the following
categories.

Level I- Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting
date. The type of mvestments mcluded in Level I include listed equities and hsted
derivatives. As required by ASC 820 Fair Falus Measuremenis and Disclosures, the Fund
does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where the Fund
helds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level IT - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets. which are either directly or
indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use
of models or other valnation methodologies.

Lewel 1T — Pricing mputs are unobservable for the mvestment and mcludes situations where there i3
little, if any, market activity for the mvestment The inputs into the determimation of fair
value require significant management judgment or estimation. Investments that are
mchaded in this category generally inchude the Fund's mterest in delisted equity securties.

18
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

T. Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis (continued)

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall inte different levels of the fair valoe
hierarchy. In such cases, an investment's level within the far value hierarchy is based on the lowest
level of input that iz sipmificant to the far value measurement The Fund's assessment of the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and
considers factors specific to the investment.

December 31, 2021 Cuoted Price in Significant Significant
USt  Active Markets Other Unobservable
Total for Identical Observable Inputs
Aszets Inputs
(Level I} (LevelIl)  (Level IIT)
Uss Us$ Uss
Assets
Investments in securities
Common stocks 96,355,162 96,355,162 - -
96,355,162 96,355,162 - -

December 31, 2020

Assets
Investments in securities
Common stocks 76,432 495 76,432 495 - -

76,432 495 76,432 493 - -

Included in Level 3 15 an unlisted equity instrument that was previously delisted since 2013 with nil
fair value as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

For the year ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there were no transfers between Lavel
1 or Level 2 and Level 3.

As at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, all mvestments m securities are held with the
custodian, Hongkeong and Shanghai Bank Corporation Limited.

The changes in investments levels are disclosed using the "beginning of period method,”™ which
assumes the mvestment mn secunties would be transferred into or out of the wvestment level at fair

value at the beginning of the reporting vear. There was no investment in securities that were
transferred in or out of Level 3 for the year ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021

8. Dividends and Distributions

The Directors may declare dividends and distributions on participating shares and authorise payment
of the dividends or distributions. No dividend or distribution shall be paid except out of the realised
or unrealised profits of the Fund or out of the share preminm account of the participating shares.

All dividends and distributions in respect of participating shares generally shall be declared and paid
according to the net asset value of the participating shares.

No dividend or distribution was paid or payable for the vear ended December 31, 2021 (2020: Nil).

9, Indemnifications

The Fund enters mto contracts that comtain a variety of indemmifications. The Fund's maximum
exposure under these arrangements is unknown. However, the Fund has not had prior claims or losses
pursuant to these contracts and expects the nsk of loss to be remote.

10. Financial instruments and associated risks

The Fund's investment activities expose it to various types of nsk, both on and off the statement of
financial condition, which are associated with financial instruments and markets in which it invests.
These financial instruments of the anda]lmhstedeqmtysacmhesexpu&eﬂmhnﬂ to varying
dezrees of elements of market, credit, and foreign currency nsk

Market risk

Market nisk 1s the nisk of potential adverse changes to the value of the financial instruments and their
derivatives because of changes in market conditions.

In the normal course of business, the Fund trades listed equity secunties. Investments in hsted equty
securities 13 subject to equity price nisk. The Fund’s investments are all histed in Hong Kong Stock
Exchange as of December 31, 2021 (2020: all).

Credit risk

Credit nisk is measured as the loss the Fund would record if its counterparties failed to perform
pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund. Since the Fund has cash at reputable custedian
and mainly mvests in histed equity secunties, credit exposure with soch transactions 15 mimimal To
mitigate the credit risk associated with such transactions, the Fund conducts business only with
financial mstitutions that the Manager believes to be well established. The Manager formmulated credit
review policies to control eredit nisk by following well established credit approval process and daly
menitering of net exposures to individual counterparties.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

10. Financial Instruments and associated risks (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Fund invests in securifies denominated m a currency other than the US dollar. Consequently, the
Fund is exposed to risks that the exchange rate of the US dollar relative to the other currency may
change in a manner, which has an adverse effect on the reported value of that portion of the Fund's
assets or labihities, which are denominated in cumrencies other than the US dollar. The Fund considers
the exposure to foreign currency nisk is mimimal as its investments are mainly denominated in the
Hong Kong dollar, which is pegged to the US dollar.

Concentration risk

Asat December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Fund was concentrated in 1ssuers and mdustries
listed on the condensed schedule of investments.

Masterfeeder structure
Due to the nature of the master-feeder structure, the Fund could be matenally affected by contnbution
or withdrawal activity of its Feeder Fund.

11.  Financial Highlights

The following represents the per participating share information, ratio to average net assets and other
mformation for the year ended December 31, 2021:

2021 2020
Us$ Uss
Per participating share operating performance
Met asset value, beginning of year 17099 17342
Income/(loss) from investment operations:
Net investment income 6235 574
et pain/(loss) on investments 21277 {823
Total from mvestment operations 2002 { 2.49)
et asset value, end of year 200.01 170.99
Total mvestment return/(loss) 16.97% [ 143%)
Ratio to average net assets:
Expenses 0.49% 0.36%
Total expenses 0.49% 0.36%

Met investment income 3.13% 3.64%

21
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021

11.  Financial Highlights (continued)
An imdividual investor per participating share operating performance, total refum and ratios to average
net assets may vary from these amounts and ratios based on the timing of capital transactions.

12. Subsequent Events
The Manager has evaluated the effect of all subsequent events oceurning through March 31, 2022, the

date the financial statements were available to be issued, and has determined that thers were no
subsequent events requiring adjustment to or disclosure i the financial statements.

22

110/208



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS

December 31, 2021

Fair value Ve of
Description Uss net assets
Investment in securities
Common stocks
Hong Kong
Amrlines 6,309,306 6.29%
Apparel Manufactorers 110,581 0.11%
Anto/Track Parts & Equipment 3,003,767 3.00%
Building & Construction - Miscellaneous 5,634,568 5.62%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 6,841,503 6.82%
Capacitors 146,190 0.15%
Casino Hotels 580,786 0.58%
Cellular Telecomnmmication 3,016,780 3.01%
Chemicals - Specialty 1,777,944 1.77%
Commercial Banks Non - US 20,034,057 19.97%
Distnbution/Wholesale 3,153,462 3.15%
Electric - Generation 3,203,635 3.20%
Energy - Alternate Sources 1,963,037 1.96%
Fmance - Investment Banker/Broker 7,753,631 7.73%
Food - Meat Products 518241 0.52%
Food - Miscellaneous/Diversified 209731 0.30%
Food - Retail 515310 0.51%
Gas - Distribution 2,619,300 261%
Metal - Alomimom 475,355 0.47%
Miscellaneous Manufacturing 3,513,887 3.50%
Onl - Field Services 2,565,462 2.56%
Paper & Pelated Products 1,952,731 195%
Power Conv/Power Supply Equipment 4,511,666 4.30%
Real Estate Operation/Development 8,124 487 8.10%
Steel - Producers 1,301,150 1.30%
Steel - Specialty 1,773,520 1.77%
Warehousing & Harbor Transport Services 4,646,846 4.63%
Total Hong Kong
(Cost: US$ 112,033,2802) 06,355,162 06.08%
Total investment in securities
(Cost: USS 112,033,802) 06,355,162 26.08%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (contimmed)

December 31, 2021

Sipnificant securtties holdings with more than 3% of net asset value of the Fund:

Cost Fair value %o of

Company — USS _ Quantity __ US§  mpetassets
Airlines

China Southermn Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 6,587,868 10,558,000 6,309,306 6.29%
Buildimg & Construction - Miscellaneous

China Commumications Constroction Co Ltd H Shrs 7,844,852 10,412,000 5,634,568 5.62%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellamsous

China Glass Holdings Ltd £19.870 3,896,000 1,973,581 197%

China Lesse Group Holdings Ltd 1,771,569 2,035,000 2,891 466 288%

West China Cement Ltd (FIESE) 1,936,688 11,250,000 1,976,456 197%

Zhejiang Glass Co Ltd H Shes 439 460 1,379,000 - -
Commercial Banks Non - U5

Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 8359229 16,200,000 5,879,162 5.86%

Bank of Commumications Co Ltd H Shrs 4847623 5,863,000 3,526,198 152%

China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 79359596 10,058,393 6,965 244 6.94%

China Minsheng Bankmg Corp Ltd H Shrs 6,833,458 9,651,280 3.663.453 31.65%
Finance - Invastment Banker/Broker

CITIC Securtties Co Ltd H Shrs 6,655,428 2,994 000 7,755,631 7.73%
Real Estate Operation/Development

Hang Lung Properties Ltd 2300910 810,000 1,666,109 1.66%

Hon Ewok Land Investment Co Ltd 688,042 2,254 000 B355,578 0.85%

Fed Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7991479 9,105,351 4,366,991 4.35%

Sino-Ocean Group Holdings Ltd 1,170,094 5,295,000 1,235,809 1.23%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
6
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS

December 31, 2020

Fair value % of
Description Uss net assets
Investment in securities
Common stocks
Hong Kong
Anrlines 6,182,551 6.90%
Apparel Manufactorers 75,834 0.09%
Auto/Track Parts & Equipment 3,181,303 3.39%
Building & Construction - Miscellaneous 2923550 330%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 4 216,360 4.76%
Capacitors 152,199 0.17%
Commercial Banks Non - US 20,112,789 22.72%
DistnbutionWholesale 3,100.413 3.50%
Electric - Generation 1,351 644 1.53%
Energy - Altemate Sources 5,376,435 6.07%
Finance - Investment Banker Broker 5,321,130 6.01%
Finance - Other Services 354781 0.40%
Food - Meat Products 330,689 037%
Food - Miscellaneous Diversified 318,457 036%
Food - Retail BR3.036 1.00%
Gas - Distribution 1847382 2.08%
Metal - Ahominum 471,766 0.33%
Miscellaneous Manufactring 1,376,123 1.56%
Onl - Field Services 1644679 1.86%
Power Conv/Power Supply Equipment 2,682 402 3.03%
F.eal Eztate Operation/Development 8,042 850 9.09%
Feental Auto/Equipment 1,683 383 1.90%
Steel - Producers 684072 0.77%
Steel - Specialty 1,163 421 132%
Textile - Products £3.097 0.09%
Warehousing & Harbor Transport Services 2,872,050 325%
Total Hong Kong
(Cost: USS 93,160,982) 76,432 495 86.33%
Total investment in securities
(Cost: USS 95,160,982) 76,432,495 86.35%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED 5CHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (contimmed)
December 31, 2020

Sipnificant securtties holdings with more than 3% of net asset value of the Fund:

Cost Fair value %o of

Company — US§ _ Quamtity _ US§ net assets
Airlines

China Southern Aidines Co Ltd H Shrs 6587868 10,558,000 6,182 551 6.99%
Commercial Banks Non - US

Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 7835493 14,700,000 5,024,507 5.68%

China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 6,842,921 8,508,393 6507774 735%

China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrs 6,833,458 5651280 5464868 6.17%
Finance - Investment BankerBroker

CITIC Securities Co Ltd H Shis 5383 841 2,444 000 5321130 6.01%
Real Estate Operation/Development

Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7654767 8538151 5175972 5.85%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
8
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(2022 )
90,242,940 11,628,705
84,816 10,929
90,158,124 11,617,776
203,840
442.30 56,995
2022 28 UFJ

=128.86

116/208



17

117/208

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022
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100,000 13
100,000

( 16.42 128.86 2022
28 UFJ
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2021 12 31
2021 2020

9 1,303,505 21,404 1,114,111 18,294
10 37,044,405 608,269 35,703,147 586,246
5,402,208 88,704 7,439,422 122,155

43,750,118 718,377 44,256,680 726,695

1 175,509 2,882 168,955 2,774
43,574,609 715,495 44,087,725 723,920

43,574,609 715,495 44,087,725 723,920

12 5,773,600 94,803 5,773,600 94,803
37,801,009 620,693 38,314,125 629,118

43,574,609 715,495 44,087,725 723,920

2022 25
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2021 12 31
2021 2020

3 7,888,116 129,523 6,938,001 113,922
3 7,157 118 374,662 6,152
4 1,877,025 30,821 2,804,412 46,048
(6,705,146) (110,098) (6,084,591) (99,909)
(3,580, 268) (58,788) (3,906, 185) (64,140)
5 (513,116) (8,425) 126,299 2,074

.
(513,116) (8,425) 126,299 2,074
(513,116) (8,425) 126,299 2,074
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2021 12 31
2020 5,773,600 94,803 38,187,826 627,044 43,961,426 721,847
126,299 2,074 126,299 2,074
2020 12 31 5,773,600 94,803 38,314,125 629,118 44,087,725 723,920
(513,116) (8,425) (513,116) (8.425)
2021 12 31 5,773,600 94,803 37,801,009 620,693 43,574,609 715,495
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2021 12 31

2021 2020
(513,116) (8,425) 126,299 2,074
(478,857) (7.863) (448,143) (7,359)
(1,398,168) (22,958) (2,356, 269) (38,690)
(7,157) (118) (20,662) (339)
(2,397,298) (39,364) (2.,698,775) (44,314)
(862,401) (14,161) (1,554,410) (25,523)
578 9
(189,394) (3,110) 43,773 719
6,554 108 (1,017) an
(3,442,539) (56,526) (4,209,851) (69,126)
7,157 118 20,662 339
7,157 118 20,662 339
(3,435,382) (56,409) (4,189,189) (68,786)
7,439,422 122,155 9,272,342 152,252
1,398,168 22,958 2,356,269 38,690
5,402,208 88,704 7,439,422 122,155
6,518,132 107,028
5,402,208 88,704 921,290 15,128
5,402,208 88,704 7,439,422 122,155
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2021 12 31

2.1.

HKFRSs

HKICPA

2.3.

2.2.

HKFRS

HKFRS

89

16

HKFRS

HKFRSs

HKASs
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2.3. HKFRS
2021 1 HKICPA
HKFRSs
HKFRSs
HKFRS HKAS 39 HKFRS
HKFRS HKFRS 16
HKFRS 16 2021 6 30
HKFRSs HKAS
HKICPA

2021 12 31
2.4.

a

b
2.5.

FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTOCI
FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTPL

FVTPL
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2.9.

HKFRS 15

2.10.
@

(b)

() @
() @ @

2.11.
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2.14.

2.15.

2.16.
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12

2021 2020
7,888,116 6,311,005
626,996
7,888,116 6,938,001
7,157 20,662
354,000
7,157 374,662

7,895,273 7,312,663
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2021 2020
1,398,168 2,356,269
478,857 448,143
1,877,025 2,804,412
)
2021 2020
)
1,440,000 1,440,000
4,374,288 4,141,482
65,467 62,948
123,000 123,000
383(1) ( )
2021 2020
2,229,391 1,844,161
36,000 36,000
2,265,391 1,880,161
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C )
2021 2020
(513,116) 126,299
16.5 (84,664) 20,839
8,994
(1,181) (122,097)
85,845 92,264
2021 2020
1,245 1,557
3,041,741 2,955,584
3,042,986 2,957,141
2021 2020
645,318 566,023
658,187 548,088
1,303,505 1,114,111
30 2020 30
15 b

2021
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645,318 566,023
10.
2021 2020
37,044,405 35,703,147
2021 12 31 30,000,000 2020
30,000,000 2022 FVTPL
2021 12 31
11.
2021 2020
52,509 45,955
123,000 123,000
175,509 168,955
30
12.
2021 2020
100,002
2020 100,002 5,773,600 5,773,600

13.
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SFC FRR
FRR
14.
2021 2020
a 7,888,116 6,311,005
b 2,280,000 2,280,000
b 380,000 380,000
a
b LPIL
190,000 2020 190,000 LPIL
15.
COVID-19
2021 12 31
2021 12 31
@
M
(USD) @IPY) (RVB)

(HKD)  USD UsD UsD
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2021 12 31 JPY HKD
4,200
2021 12 31 RMB  HKD
1,484,000
2020
RMB
()
2021 12 31 50
50
2020
(b)
70 2020 77
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JPY RMB
10 2020 JPY JPY
¢ D
2020 900 10 2020
JPY
2020 RMB RMB
« D

2020 2,539,000

21,000 (2020 2,000 )
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2021
175,509 175,509 175,509
2020
168,955 168,955 168,955
(D)
HKFRS 13
2021 12 31
37,044,405 37,044,405
2020 12 31
35,703,147 35,703,147
2021 2020 12 31

16.
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREETEAERAT

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Mote HEK% HK$
Current assets
Account and other receivahbles & 1,303,505 1,114,111
Structured deposits 10 37,044,405 35,703,147
Cash and bank balances 5,402,208 7439422
43.750,118 44,256,680
Current liabilities
Account and other payables 11 175,509 168,955
Net current assets 43,574,609 44,087,725
Met assets 43,574,609 44,087,725
Financed by:
Share capital 12 5,773,600 5,773,600
Reserves 37,801,009 38,314,125
Shareholders' funds 43,574,609 44,087,725

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 25 April 2022
and signed on its behalf by:

B

LO Pl Leling KAM Pak Wah Franklin
Director Director

140/208



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEEARAT

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

021 2020

Note HES HKS

Eevenue 3 7.888.116 6,938,001
Other mcome 3 7,157 374 662
Other net gain 4 1,877,025 2804412
Staff costs (6,703,146) (6,084,591)
Other operating expenses (3.580.26%) (3,906,185
(Loss)/profit before tax 5 (513.116) 126,299
Taxation T - -
(Loss)/profit for the year (513.116) 126,299
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year (513.116) 126,299
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEEARAT

Statement of Changes in Equnity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share

capital Reserves Total

HEKS HES HES

Total equity as at 1 January 2020 5,773,600 38187826 43,961 426
Total comprehensive meome for the year - 126,299 126,200
Total equity as at 31 December 2020 5,773,600 38314125 44,087,725
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (313.116) (313,116)
Total equity as at 31 December 2021 5,773,600 37,801,009 43,574,609
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEEARAT

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2021

021 2020
HKS HES$
Cash flows from operating activities
{Loss)/profit before tax (313,116) 126,299
Admstments for:
Net fair value gain on structured deposits (478.85T) (448.143)
Foreign exchange gam (1,398.162) (2,356,269)
Interest income (7,15T) (20,662
(2,397.298) (2,698.775)
Increase in structured deposits (262.401) (1,554 4100
Decrease in amount due from a fellow subsidiary - 578
(Increase)/decrease in account and other recervables (188,304) 43,773
Increase/(decrease) in account and other payables 6,554 (1,017
Net cash used in operating activities (3,442 5390 (4,200 851)
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 7,157 20,662
Net cash from investing activities 1157 20,662
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3.435380) (4,189 189)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 7439422 9272342
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 1,398.168 2356260
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5,402 208 7439422
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Time deposits with maturity of three months or less - 6,518,132
Cash and bank balances 5,402 208 921,290
5,402 208 7439422

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The Company did not have liabilities arising from financing activities during the year and durning the preceding
year. Accordingly, the reconciliation of liabilities from financial activities as required by paragraph 44D of
HEAS 7 is not necessary.

_10-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

1. General information
Cape Asset Management Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. Its
registered office 1s located at Umt 3303, 33/F_, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong. The
Company is a licensed corporation registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The principal
activities of the Company are the provision of mvestment advisory and financial services.

The ultimate holding company is The Seven International Heldings (L) Limited, a private compamy
incerporated in Labuan, Malaysia.

2. Significant accounting policies

2.1. Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HEFR.Ss"), which collective term includes all applicable indrndual HEFRSs, Hong
EKong Accounting Standards ("HEASs") and Interpretations issned by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HEICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company is set out below.

The HEICPA has issued certain new and revised HEFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the cumrent accounting period of the Company. Information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Company for the corrent and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements is provided m
note 2.3,

2.2. Basis of preparation of financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements iz the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial assets which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HEFESs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, mcome and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and variouns other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the jdgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an cngoing basis. Fewisions to accounting
estimates are recogmsed in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or m the period of the revision and foture periods if the revision affects both current and fisture
penods.

2,  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

2.2, Basis of preparation of financial statements (cont'd)
Judgements made by management in the application of HEKFE.Ss that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 16.

2.3. The impact of new/revised HEFRSs
In the current year, the Company has applied, for the first time, the following new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretation (collectively referred to as the "new and revised HEFESs™) issued by
HEICPA, which are effective for the Company's financial year beginning from 1 January 2021 A summary
of the new and revised HEFRSs applied by the Company is set out as follows:

Amendments to HEFRS 9, HEAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Feform - Phase 2
HEFRS 7, HEFRS 4 and HEFRS 16

Amendment to HEFES 16 COVID-19-Related Fent Concessions
Beyond 30 June 2021

The amendments to HEFESs and HEAS in this year do not have material impact on the Companmy's
financial performance and position for the curmrent and prior years and on the disclosures set out in the
financial statements.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKTCPA has 1ssued a number of amendments new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2021 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements.

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new
standards and new interpretations is expected to be i the period of inifial application. Howewer, 1t iz not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect umtil the directors of the Compamy
completed a detailed review.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.4. Foreign currencies translations
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included m the financial statements are measured using the cumrency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). This financial statements are
presented in Hong Eong Dollars ("HE$"™), which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated mto the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailmg at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such ransactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign cumencies are recognised in profit or loss.

2.5. Financial instruments

A financial instnument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity. A financial asset or a financial liability will be recognised when, and
only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instroment. At imitial
recognition, financial instruments are accounted for at rade date basis and measured at fair value plus or
minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liabality not at financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL"), transaction costs thereon After imitial recogmition, financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value or at amortised cost based on their respective business models,
contractual cash flows characteristics and classifications.

Financial assets af FFTPL

Financial assets other than those measured at amortised cost or at fair valoe through other comprehensive
mecome ("FVTOCT") are classified as financial assets at FVTFL. Financial assets that are classified as held
for trading or are designated at FVTPL at imitial recognition for the purposes of aveiding accounting
mismatch are classified as financial assets at FVTPL too. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading
unless they are designated as hedges. After initial recognition, financial assets at FWTPL are measured at
fair value prior to the deduction of fransaction costs. Gams or losses ansing from changes m fair value or
otherwise are recogmised m profit or loss. Such gams or losses are presented separately from mterest and
dividends
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2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5. Financial instruments (cont"d)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Non-derivative debt instroments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for
collection of contractual cash flows and have specified settlement dates with fixed or determinable
payments of principal and interest thereon are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. After mitial
recogmition, finamcial assets at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using effective interest
method, less credit loss allowances. Interest income together with gains or losses resulting from
derecognition are recognizsed in profit or loss.

At each reporting date, expected credit losses are recogmised for mdividual or collective financial assets at
amortised cost in profit or loss. The ameounts of expected credit losses are measured at the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows and the expected future cash flows.

Financial liabilities at amortisied cost

Non-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost. After imitial recogmition, financial liabilities at
amortised cost are measured at amortised cost usmg the effective interest method. All financial liabilities at
amortised cost are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has a pre-defined repayment schedule
or an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period. Interest expenses are recognised in profit or loss. When the borrowing agreement contains clause
that gives the lender unconditional right to demand repayment at any time disregarding the pre-defined
repayment schedule, the financial liabilities at amortised cost 15 presemnted as a cwrrent liability in the
statement of financial pesition irespective of the probabality that the lender will invoke the clanse without

CATRS

Reclassification of financial assets

Financial assets, but not financial liabilities, are re-classifiable when the business model applicable to a
financial asset or a class of financial assets has changed For the financial assets reclassified out of
amortised cost measurement category, their carrying amount are restated at their respective fair value at the
reclassification date; any differences are recogmised in profit or loss (for those reclassified into FVTPL
measurement category) or other comprehensive income (for those reclassified into FVTOCT measurement
category). For the finamcial assets reclassified out of FVTPL measurement category mto FVTOCT
measurement category or vice versa, they are continued to be measured at fair value; cummulative gam or loss
previously recogmised in other comprehensive income, if any, is reclassified to profit or loss as
reclassification adjustment. For the financial assets reclassified out of FWVTPL measurement category into
amortised cost measurement category, their fair value at the reclassification date becomes their new gross
carrying amount. For financial assets reclassified from FVTOCT measurement category mto amortised cost
measurement category, their carrying amount will be adjusted as if they had always been measured at
amortised cost; the adjusted amount will be recognised in cumulative gain or loss of the financial assets
previcusly recognised in other comprehensive income. After reclassification, the reclassified financial assets
will be measured in accordance with the accounting policies of the new categories.

_14-

147/208



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5. Financial instruments (cont"d)
Derecognition of financial assets
When the contractual rights to the cash flows from financial assets expire or substantially all the nisks and
rewards of ownership of financial assets are transferred, the financial assets will be derecogmsed. The rights
and obligations created or retamed in the tramsfer are recogmised separately as assets or hiabilities. However,
if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are retaimed. the
financial assets will not be deracognised. In this situation, the transferred financial assets will be recogmsed
in their entirety and the considerations received. if amy, will be recogmsed as financial liabilities. In
subsequent periods, income on the transferred financial assets and expense incumred on the recogmized
financial habilities will be recognised in profit or loss separately. In the case substantially all the nisks and
rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are neither transferred nor retained, the transferred
financial assets will be recognised to the extent of the Company's confimzouns mvelverent if the Company
retains control over the financial assets; otherwise, the financial assets will be derecognised and the rights
and obligations created or retamed in the tramsfer are recogmised separately as assets or liabihities. The
difference of the carrying amount of the transferred assets which are qualified for derecognition and the sum
of consideration recerved (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recogmsed m
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

When the obligation of financial liabilities specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires, the
financial hiabilities are regarded as extingmshed and are removed from the statement of financial position.
An exchange of liabilities or substantial modification of the terms of existing financial liabilities are also
accounted for as an extingwishment of the original financial liabilities. Gain or loss on derecognition of
financial liabilities is recogmised in profit or loss.

2.6. Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of
mcome and expense that are taxable or deductible mn other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Company's hiability for current tax 15 calenlated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enactad by the end of reporting period.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.6. Income tax (cont'd)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the camying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the comesponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabalities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recogmsed for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recogmsed if the temporary difference anses from the initial recognition
{other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilifies are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of reporting period, to recover or settle the camying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable mcome, deferred tax assets and liabilifies are
measured using the average rates that are expected to apply to the taxable profit or tax loss of the perods in
which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

2.7. Employee benefits
Salaries, anmual bonuses and other staff costs are accrued m the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Company. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, provisions are made for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the end of reporting period.

The Company joined a Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF™) scheme for its employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF scheme are held separately from those of the Company in independently admimistered
funds. Under the mules of the MPF scheme, the emplover and its emplovees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules. Contributions to the defined contribution pension
scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5. Government grants
Govermment grants are recogmised as income over periods necessary to match them with the related costs
they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis when there is reasonable assurance that the Compamy
will comply with the conditions attaching of them and the grants will be received. A government grant that
becomes recervable as compensation for expenses or losses already imcurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Company. with no foture related costs, 13 recogmised as income of the
peried in which it becomes receivable. Government grants related to assets are presented in the statement of
financial position by setting up the grant as deferred income / a deduction in armiving at the camrying amount
of the asset. Government grants received before the revenue recognition criteria are recognised as a liability.

2.9. Revenue recognition

Pevenue from contracts with customers is recognised by reference to each distinet performance obligation
in the contract with the customer. Revenue from contracts with customers 15 measured at the transaction
price, bemg the amount of consideration which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for
transferming the promised goods or services to the customer, net of taxes. The transaction price is allocated
to each performance obligation of each distinct good or service promised m the contract. The basis of
allocation is that allowed by HEFRS 15. Depending on the substance of the contract, revemue is recogmsed
when the performance obligation 13 satisfied, which may be at a point in time or over time.

Fund manager fee mcome is charged at a fixed percentage per month of the net asset value of the managed
accounts under management of the Company. The Company is also entitled to a performance fee when there
15 a positive performance for the relevant performance period and it is recogmsed at the end of the relevant
performance period, when it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recogmised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the vanable consideration i3
subsequently resolved.

Income from financial services 1s recognised over time as services rendered.
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate

that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter pertod, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.10. Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Company if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Compamy;

() has sipmificant mfluence over the Company; or

(i) iz a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company's parent.
(b) An entity is related to the Company if any of the followmg conditions applhes:

(1) the enfity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity 13 a member).

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Compamy or
an entity related to the Compamy.

(vi) the entity 15 controlled or jointly controlled by a person 1dentified in (a).

(vi) a person idenfified in (a)(1) has sigmficant influence over the entity or 1z a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those fammly members who may be expected to influence, or be
inflnenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

2.11. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short term, highly liguid mvestment that are readily convertible inte known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes i value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Company's cash management are alse included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the statement of cash flows.

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)
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2.12. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it 1s probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a rehiable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, including those arising from the contractoal obligation specified m
the service concession arrangement to maintam or restore the infrastructure before it 15 handed over to the
grantor, 15 the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
reporting period, taking mto account the nsks and uncertainties swrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its camying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to seftle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that remmbursement will be
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.13. Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at tramsaction price and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less lifetime expected credit losses.

2.14. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are measured at initial recognition at the fair value (including transaction costs)
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.15. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Company. It can alse be a present obligation amnsing from past events that i1s not recogmsed
becanse it 1s not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow 1s
probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset 15 a possible asset that amses from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occwrrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
contrel of the Company. When inflow 15 virually certain, an asset is recognised.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.16. Leases

Except for the recognition exemption, if applicable, right-of-use assets and lease Liabilities are recognized
for all contracts that are, or contain, leases of identified assets at the commencement date of leases. Right-
of-use assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and mmpairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities. Tease liabilities are
initially measured at the present value of unpaid lease payments using intetest rate implicit to the lease or, if
undeterminable, lesses’s mcremental bormmowing rates and subsequently adjusted with interest on and the
seftlement of the lease liabilities, and the re-measurement arising from any reassessment of the lease
liabilities or lease modifications.

The Company has elected to recognise lease payments for all leases with a term of twelve months or less; or
the underlying assets of which are of low value, as expenses on a straight-line method.

Depraciation i3 caleulated nsing the straight-line method to write off the depreciable amount of each right-
of-use asset to profit or loss unless it is ncluded in the carrying amount of another asset. If the ownership of
the identified asset will be transferred to the Company by the end of the lease term or the Company will
exercise a purchase option, depreciation shall be allocated over the estimated useful life of the right-ofuse
assets; otherwise, depreciation shall be allocated over the shorter of lease term or the estimated useful life of
the right-of-use assets.

3. Revenne and other income

The principal activities of the Company are the provizion of mvestment advisory and financial services.
Pevenue and other income recognised during the year are as follows:

021 2020
HES HEKS
Eevenue
Fund manager fee T.288.116 6,311,003
Imitial subseription income - 626,996
7.888.116 6,938,001
Other income
Interest income 1.157 20,662
Government subsidies - 354,000
7,157 374 662
7.895273 7.312.663
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4.  Other net gain

021 2020
HES HES
Net exchange gain 1,398 168 2,336,260
WNet fair value gain on stctured deposits 478 857 448,143
1,877,025 2 804 412
5. (Loss)profit before tax
2021 2020
HEKS HEKS
(Loss)/profit before tax is stated after charging:
Lease expenses
- Short-term leazes 1,440,000 1,440,000
Staff costs (excluding directors’ rermmeration {note ))
- Salanes, allowances and benefits m kind 4374288 4,141 482
- Retrement benefit scheme contnbutions 63,467 62,048
Aunditor's remmmeration 123,000 123000

6. Directors' remuneration

Details of directors' remmmeration disclosed pursuant te sectiom 383(1) of the Hong Eong Companies
Ordimance and Part 2 of the Compamies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation

are as follows:

021 2020

HES HES

Fees - -
Other emoluments

- Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,229 301 1,844 161

- Retirement benefit scheme contributions 36,000 36,000

2265391 1,880,161

M-
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7. Taxzation

Provision for Hong Keng Profits Tax has not been made as the Company sustained a taxation loss during
the year (2020: Mil).

No provision for deferred tax has been made. Details of the unrecognised deferred tax are set out in note 3
to the financial statements.

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates

021 2020

HEKS HES
(Loss)/profit before tax (313.116) 126,290
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) (84 664) 20,839
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses - 8004
Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,181) (122,097
Effect on deferred tax not recognised 85,845 92264

Tax expenses - -

8. Deferred tax assets unrecognised

No deferred tax assets has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Deferred tax
assets which have not been recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

w2l 2020

HKS HKS

Deductible temporary differences 1,245 1,357
Tax loss 3,041,741 2,955,584
3,042 986 2957141

9. Account and other receivables

w2l 2020

HKS HEKS

Accounts recervable 643,318 566,023
Other debtors, prepayments and deposits paid 638,187 548083
1,303,503 1,114,111
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g,

10.

Account and other receivables {comt'd)

The Company allows a credit peried of 30 (2020: 30) days in respect of the accounts receivable arising from
the busimess of provision of mvestment advisory and financial services.

The Company's credit policy is set out in note 15(b).

The aging analysis of accounts receivable ansing from mvestment advisory and financial services at the end
of reporting period, based on the date of invoice was as follows:

2021 2020
HKS HES
Neither past due nor impaired 645,318 566,023

Eeceivables that were nerther past due nor impaired related to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of defanlt.

Structured deposits
1 2020
HKS HES
Structured deposits, at fair value 37,044 405 35,703,147

The structured deposits are placed with a bank in Hong Kong, the returms of which are determined by
reference to the change in certain exchange rates gquoted in the market The principal amount of the
structured deposits 1s EMB30,000,000 (2020: RME30,000,000) as at 31 December 2021 which was with
maturity date in February 2022, The structured deposits are designated as financial assets at FVIPL on
mnitial recogmition. At 31 December 2021, the structured deposits were stated at fair values.

S
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11. Account and other payables

21 2020
HKS HEKS
Accounts payable 32,509 4593535
Accmals 123,000 123,000
175,509 168955
All the accounts payable are expected to be settled within 30 days.
12. Share capital
1 2020
HEKS HEKS
Issued and folly paid
Ordinary share
100,002 (2020: 100,002) shares at the beginning of the year
and at the end of the year 3,773,600 3,773,600

The holders of ordinary shares are enfitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets.

13. Capital management

The primary objectives of the Company's capital management are to safeguard the Company's ability to
contime as 3 going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise the shareholders’ value.

The Company manages its capital structore and makes adjustments to it i light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amounts of dividend
paid to the shareholders, returm on capital to the shareholders or issue of new shares or repurchase of
existing shares as well as issue of new debts or redemption of existing debis.
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13. Capital management {cont'd)

The Company are licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission ("SFC") and obliged to meet the
regulatory liquid capital requirements under the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRER")
at all times. The Company ensures 1t mamtains a liquid capital level adequate to support the level of
activities with sufficient buffer to accommodate for increases im ligmdity reqmrements ansng from
potential increases in the level of business activities. During the financial year, the Company has complied
with the liguid capital requirements under the FER at all times.

14. Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Company
entered into the following material related party transactions:

021 2020
HES HEKS
Fund management fee from a related fimd (note (a)) T.288.116 6,311,005
Pental expense to a fellow subsidiary (note (b)) 2,280,000 2. 280,000
Eental deposits to a fellow subsidiary (note (b)) 320,000 380,000

Note
(a) The management fee was received from a fund managed by the Company. The management fee 13
calculated based on net asset value of the fund.

() The Company entered into rental agreements with a fellow subsidiary, Lucky Plus Investment Limited
("LPIL"). Pursuant to the agreements. the Company leased office premises and quarters owned by LPIL
at market rentals totaling FK$190,000 (2020: HE$190,000) per month.

_25.
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

15. Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a vanety of financial risks: market risk {incloding foreign currency
nizk and cash flow and fair value interest rate nisk), credit nisk, and liquidity risk. These nsks are mitigated
by the Company's financial management policies and practices desenibed below:

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly mereased the level of uncertainty of global economics, which
brought challenges to the Company on the financial risks management including foreign currency misk,
credit risk and higquidity risk. During the year ended 31 Diecember 2021, there were no material changes to
the principles and policies for the management of nisk. However, In response to the pandemic, appropriate
measures were exercised by the Company as and when required. The Company has been actively managing
the risk resulting from the pandemic and its impact on the Company's operations and its financial nisks
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

{a) Market risk

(1) Forelgn currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreign corrency risk through certain revenmes and expenses that are
settled in United States dollar (USD), Japanese Yen (JPY) and Fenmmbi (RME). As USD 13
pegged to Hong Kong dollar (HED), the Company does not expect any significant movements in
the USD/HED exchange rate. The Company is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from futore transactions that are denominated m JPY and EMB. The management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign comrency exposure
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2021, if JPY has strengthened/weakened by 10% (2020: 3%) against HED
with all other variables held constant, loss for the year would have been approximately HE$4,200
(2020: HES$900) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gain/(loss) on translation of
foreign currencies of assets and habilities. The 10% (2020: 5%%) represents management's
assessment of the likely maxmum change in JFY exchange rate over the period until the end of

next reporting period.

As at 31 December 2021, if RMB has strengthenedweakened by 4% (2020: 6%) against HED
with all other vamables held comstant, loss for the year would have been approximately
HES1.484,000 (2020: HE$2,539,000) higherlower, mainly as a result of foreizn ewchange
gam/(loss) on translation of foreign curencies of assets and liabilities. The 4% (2020: §%)
represents management's assessment of the likely maximum change in FMB exchange rate over
the period until the end of next reporting period.

_26-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

15. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(a) Market risk (cont'd)
(n) Cash flow and fair value interest rate nsk

The Company 1= exposed to interest rate misk through the impact of rate changes on interest
bearing assets. The Company's policy 13 to obtain the most favourable interest rates available for

its depaosits.

As at 31 December 2021, the profit after tax of the Company would have been
decreased/mcreased by approximately HES$21,000 (2020 HE$2,000) if the market interest rate
had been mereased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other vanables held constant. The 50
basis points incTease/decrease represents management's assessment of the likely maximum change
in interest rates over the pericd until the end of next reporting period. The analysis does not take
into account exposure to fair value interest rate risk amsing from fixed rate instruments as the
Company does not hold any fixed rate mstruoments which are measured at fair value in the
financial statements. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020.

(b} Credit nsk
The Company's principal finaneial assets is bank deposits and cash, structured deposits, account and
other receivables.

The credit risks on bank deposits and structored deposits placed in banks are imited becanse the banks
are authomised financial institutions with high cradit rating.

Eental deposits are placed with a landlord and are due to refund upon the expiry of the tenancy
agreements and handover the leased premises. The Company has not expenience significant default by
the landlord.

The Company's exposure to credit risk is mfluenced maimly by the individuoal characteristics of each
customer. At the end of reporting peried, the Company has a concentration of credit risk as 70% (2020:
77%) of total account and other receivables which was due from fimds managed by the Company and a

Other than concentration of credit nisk on amomunt due from fimds managed by the Company, liqud
funds and strectured deposits which are deposited with banks with high credit rating, the Company does
not have any other significant concentration of credit nisk.

_27-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

15. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(e} Liguidity nsk
The Company regularly monitors current and expected hiquidity requirements to ensure that it mamtaims
sufficient cash to meet its Liquidity requirements in the short and longer term_

The maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based on the
contracted undiscounted payment, was as follows:

Total
coniractual Morethanl  More than 2
Carrying undiscounted Withinl year  year butless  years but less
amount cash flow orondemand  than2years  than 5 years

HEKS HES HES HES HES
2021
Account and
other payablez 175,509 175,509 175,509 - -
2020
Account and
other payables 168,955 168,935 168,955 - -

(d) Fair value of financial mstruments
Financial instruments measured at fair value
HEFES 13, Fair value measurement categorises fair value measurements into a three-level hierarchy.
The level mto which fair value is classified is determined with reference to the observability and

significance of the mputs used m the valuation techmique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices m
active markets for identical assets or hiabilities at the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs 1.e. observable imputs which fal to
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available.

- Lewvel 3 valuations: Fair value measured usmg sigmificant unobservable nputs.

_0% .
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

15. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(d) Fair value of financial instruments (cont'd)
As at 31 December 2021, the Company held the following financial assets measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HKS HKS HKS HKS
Financial assets
at fair value
throngh profit or loss
- Structured deposits - 37,044,403 - 37,044 405

As at 31 December 2020, the Company held the following financial assets measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HES HKS} HEKS HES
Financial assets
at fair value
throngh profit or loss
- Structured deposits - 33,703,147 - 35,703,147

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers of instruments between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers info or out of Level 3.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

_79 .
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BAREEREFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2021

16. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are contimally evaluated and are based on historical expenience and other
factors, inchoding expectations of finture events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerming the fiture. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
sigmificant nsk of cansing a matenial adjustment to the camrying amounts of assets and hiabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated of impamrment of receivables
The Company tests ammually whether account and other receivables have suffered any impaimment m
accordance with the accounting pelicy stated in notes to the financial statements and make provisions
for impairment accordingly.

(b) Fair value estimates
Fair valoe estimates are made at a specific point mn time and based on relevant market information and
information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and imvolve
uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be determined with precision.
Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

17. Events after the end of reporting period

At the end of reporting period, the Company was unable to reliably estimate the financial impact of the
recent outbreak of COVID-19. There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company after

the reporting period.

Z30-
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Trustee
Cape China Fund

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Cape China Fund (the “Trust”), which comprise the statements of assets and
liahilities as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the related statements of operations, changesin net
assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Trust at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations, changes in its net assets and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor' s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Trust and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free of
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financia statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for one
year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free of material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’ s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance isa high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Therisk of not detecting
amaterial misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered
material if thereisasubstantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made
by areasonable user based on the financial statements.

201/208



(

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)

o o o o o o e e e
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on atest
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s

internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, aswell as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for areasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during
the audit.

Ernst & Young, Ltd.

March 31, 2022

)
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of
Cape Asset Management Limited

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financia statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Cape Asset Management Limited ("the Company™) set out on pages 7 to 30,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to

thefinancial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2021, and of itsfinancial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") and with reference to Practice
Note 820 (Revised), The Audit of Licensed Corporations and Associated Entities of Intermediariesissued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.
Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the

directors report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appearsto be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is amaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for the financial statements
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The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in accordance
with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong

Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financia statements and to report our
opinion solely to you, as abody, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HK SAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financia statements. In addition, we are required to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
(Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit)

Rules.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence aobtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to

cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesininternal control that we identify during

our audit.

Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and
Audit) Rules.

FTW & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 25 April 2022
HO Cheung Kong

Practising Certificate Number: P05214

)
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